IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SDJ. WHITE

JUN 11 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

RICKY STEVE CORBETT,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 76,072

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN #201170 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

On June 2, 1989, a Walton County Grand Jury returned an indictment charging Ricky Steve Corbett with first degree murder for the shooting death of Sherry Lynn Dailey. (R 725) The indictment also charged Corbett with kidnapping, armed robbery, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, and use of a firearm during the commission of a felony. (R 725). Prior to trial, the court severed the possession of a firearm by a convicted felon count. (R 3-5) Corbett proceeded to a jury trial on the remaining counts. The jury found Corbett guilty as charged and recommended a death sentence by a vote of seven to five. (R 860-862, 870)

Circuit Judge Clyde B. Wells presided over the guilt and penalty phases of the trial. Unfortunately, the day after the penalty phase was concluded, Judge Wells was killed in an airplane crash. (R 1452-1453) Corbett's case was assigned to Circuit Judge G. Robert Barron for purposes of sentencing and post-trial motions. (R 874) Before sentencing, Corbett moved for a new penalty phase trial during which Judge Barron could hear the various witnesses testify and make the necessary credibility evaluations. (R 872-873) Judge Barron denied the motion, noting that he had reviewed the trial transcripts and presentence investigation report. (R 1452-1453) The judge also denied a post-sentencing motion for a new penalty phase trial on the same grounds. (R 1459-1498)

On April 26, 1990, Judge Barron adjudged Corbett guilty and sentenced him to death for the murder, life for the kidnapping and life for the armed robbery (R 891-898) He imposed no sentence for possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony. (R 891-898) In his findings concerning the death sentence, Judge Barron found five aggravating circumstances: (1) defendant was previously convicted of a violent felony; (2) the murder was committed to avoid arrest; (3) the murder was committed for financial gain; (4) the murder was cold, calculated and premeditated; (5) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. (R 890-891) In mitigation, the court found two factors: (1) the defendant's youthful age of 21; and (2) the defendant's low intellectual level. (R 891)

Corbett timely filed his notice of appeal to this court on May 16, 1990. (R 900)

Facts -- Guilt Phase

Sherry Lynn Dailey worked at the King Bee Liquor Store in Freeport. (R 253-254, 276) Her mother, Betty Hardy, drove Dailey to work about 7:30 a.m. for her to begin work at 8:00 on May 5, 1989. (R 254-257) Dailey wore a turquoise shirt, a faded blue-jean skirt and white tennis shoes. (R 255) About 10:30 a.m., Henry McCormick stopped at the liquor store. (R 273-274) No one was present when he entered. (R 274) After several minutes, he yelled a few times, but no one answered. (R 274) He also noticed that the cash register drawer was open. (R 274) Finally, he checked the bathrooms and found no one.

McCormick knew Dailey and noticed that her pocketbook was still in the store. (R 274-275) Another customer, Tina Gavins, drove up at the pickup window and called the store manager. (R 275) McCormick called the Walton County Sheriff's Department. (R 275)

The store manager, Judy Nobles, and Investigator Fred Mann arrived at the store around 11:00 a.m. (R 276-277, 312-313) At Mann's direction, Judy Nobles opened the cash register. (R 277-279, 314-316) After examining cash register tape, Nobles concluded that \$112 was missing. (R 277-278) The cash register tape also indicated that the last sale occurred between 10:20 and 10:30 a.m., and the purchase was a lemon-lime squeezer for \$1.20. (R 280-282, 315-317) A lemon squeeze bottle was located on the counter. (R 280)

Robert Cupsted and Lillie Miller saw a brown car in the vicinity of the liquor store on the morning of May 5, 1989. (R 267-272, 283-307) Cupsted was driving by the liquor store approximately 10:30 a.m. and noticed a reddish-brown car parked in front of the store. (R 268-269) He did not see a tag number or recognize the make of the car. (R 271-272) Miller said she was driving by the area sometime during the morning when a car switched from the opposite side of the road, made a u-turn into her lane in front of her. (R 284-285) She said there were three people in the car; two black males in the front and a white female in the back seat. (R 286) The female looked at her through the back window of the car. (R 286) Later, Miller saw a picture of Dailey on television and recognized her as the

girl she saw in the back seat of the car. (R 285-286) Miller testified there were two black males in the front of the automobile, although she had earlier given a statement to police officers that one of the men "seemed like he was a white fellow." (R 300) Miller identified a photograph of Dailey as being the same person she saw in the car that day. (R 285-286, 303-305)

Joyce Anderson owned the brown Ford Tiempo automobile that Miller identified as the car which turned in front of her (R 338-340) Anderson had given Ricky Corbett permission to use her car on May 5, 1989, and he left her home with the car at approximately 6:00 a.m. (R 339) Glen Hardy saw Corbett in the Tiempo at 7:13 a.m. (R 258-261) Hardy was a security guard at the Sandestin Beach Resort where Corbett was employed. (R 258-259, 263-264) There were two other black males in the car at the time. (R 264) Hardy recognized one as Donnie Phillips. (R 260) Phillips was a tall, very muscular man. (R 260) Sharee Campbell also saw Corbett and Phillips at the Sandestin Resort about 8:00 a.m. on May 5, 1989. (R 265-266) She said they were in a brown automobile. (R 266) Finally, Ernest Hogans testified that he saw Corbett and Donnie Phillips in Anderson's brown Tiempo about 10:30 a.m. (R 308-311)

On May 8, 1989, Corbett agreed to give a ride to Tommy Watson and Terry Poston. (R 408-412, 488-491) Corbett was driving the brown Tiempo. (R 409, 490-491) William Schofield was also in the automobile. (R 409) All of them were smoking marijuana and drinking beer. (R 413, 424) Watson had contacted

Corbett to get a ride to Freeport for himself and Poston, who was his nephew. (R 423) Schofield, Watson and Poston are white. (R 424) Poston wanted to go to Freeport for a few days because he had an outstanding arrest warrant. (R 421) According to Watson, Corbett stopped the car at a point along Cow Ford Road. (R 425) This was about one and a half or two miles from where Poston and Watson had been staying. (R 425) Watson and Schofield remained in the car. (R 414) Corbett and Poston walked into the woods. (R 414, 493-494)

Poston stated that Corbett said he had something to show them. (R 493) He asked Poston to accompany him into the woods. (R 493) The two men walked to an area where Corbett showed Poston a body of a woman. (R 494) According to Poston, Corbett showed him the body, laughed and said, "that's what I thing about life." Corbett told Poston that he had robbed a liquor store and had shot the girl. (R 494-495) Corbett said he needed someone to talk to because he was having bad dreams. (R 495) After Corbett drove Watson and Poston to their destination, Poston told Watson about the body and Corbett's statements. (R 495) Poston said they did not go to the police immediately because they were scared. (R 495) Two days later, they went to the police after seeing a notice of a reward for information about the missing girl. (R 496, 427) Both Watson and Poston said the reward was not the reason for their talking to the police. (R 433-434, 496) Poston led the police to the location of the body on May 11, 1989. (R 317)

The body of Sherry Dailey was in a swampy area in Walton County. (R 317) The body was nude and clothing matching the description Dailey wore the day of her disappearance was found in a plastic jug in the same area as the body. (R 323-324) Investigator Mann also recovered a pair of men shoes near the scene. (R 328) These shoes were similar to a pair Corbett allegedly owned. (R 340-341) Donnie Phillips, who was a codefendant in the case, directed Mann to the shoes. (R 328) Crime scene analysts made casts of tire impressions from the roadway near the scene. (R 352) A bullet was also found in the mud where the victim's head was lying. (R 359) Another bullet was recovered from the head of the victim during an autopsy. (R 353) A hair was located on the chest of the victim. (R 354)

Dr. Edmund Kielman, a pathologist, examined the body at the scene and performed an autopsy. (R 381-385) The body was severely decomposed. (R 385) Keilman found a bullet entrance wound directly above the left ear and an exit wound just forward of the right ear. (R 385) A second bullet entrance wound was through the roof of the mouth. (R 385) That bullet traveled into the cranial cavity, and Keilman recovered the bullet from that location. (R 385) There were two bullet entrance wounds to the palm of the left hand and a single exit wound on the opposite side of that hand. (R 386) The victim was shot a total of four times. (R 389) Keilman concluded the cause of death was the two bullet wounds to the cranial cavity. (R 390) Additional injuries to the victim included a missing right finger, which Keilman concluded had been cut off. (R 390) He also

found a skinning injury that started just below the umbilical stump and was triangular in shape. The wound curved down between the legs all the way back to the anus. (R 390-391) The skin in this area was totally removed in a triangular pattern. (R 391) Keilman testified the injury appeared as if someone had used a knife to cut the skin away. (R 391) On cross-examination, Keilman said that he had no way to know when the amputation of the right finger occurred. (R 392-393) He also could not determine which shots occurred first; the ones to the head or the ones to the hand. (R 394) Keilman also testified that his first conclusion concerning the skinning injury to the abdomen was that decomposition and maggot activity could have caused it. (R 394-395) Sometime after the autopsy, while reading a book by another forensic pathologist, Keilman concluded that the injury to the abdomen was probably caused by someone cutting the skin away rather than maggot activity. (R 395-396) Consequently, he changed his opinion, even though several months had elapsed after the autopsy. (R 396-400)

Several items of physical evidence were analyzed. The bullet recovered from the victim and the bullet recovered from the ground where the body was found were fired from the same weapon, either a .38 caliber or .357 caliber firearm. (R 444) Both bullets were wad-cutter type projectiles with a flat nose designed for target shooting. (R 444-445) Although no firearm was recovered for examination, Tony Phillips, Donnie Phillips' brother, observed a .38 caliber firearm in his house on May 6,

1989, while his brother was living there. (R 343) He also observed wad-cutter type ammunition. (R 343)

An examination of the debris from the victim's clothing disclosed Negroid body hairs. (R 455-458) The hair recovered from the victim was also a Negroid body hair. (R 453-454) None of the hairs were suitable for comparison beyond that general classification. (R 453-458) Debris from the victim's clothing also contained some white and tan polyester fibers. (R 466-470) These were compared to fibers from carpeting found in the brown Tiempo. (R 466-472) The fibers found in the clothing were consistent with the fibers of two different kinds of carpeting found in the automobile. (R 471-474)

A latent fingerprint lifted from the counter of the liquor store was compared to the prints of Donnie Phillips and Ricky Corbett. (R 364-370) The print proved to be the palm print left by Ricky Corbett. (R 368-370) Three fingerprints lifted from the rearview mirror of the Tiempo automobile were made by Donnie Phillips. (R 367)

Jessie Wooden was a cellmate with Donnie Phillips while he was awaiting trial. (R 487) He was in the same cellblock with Ricky Corbett in jail. (R 480-481) Corbett allegedly made statements to Wooden during this time. (R 481) Corbett allegedly said that he and Donnie Phillips planned to rob a bank or a Junior Food Store. (R 482) Ultimately, the plan centered on the robbery of a liquor store. (R 382) Corbett said Phillips had a firearm with him. (R 482) He told Wooden that they robbed the liquor store, and they took the clerk away just to

scare her. (R 483) Corbett never said where he took her, but said it was down a dirt road. (R 483) Corbett allegedly told him that he smoked marijuana with Terry Poston and either showed him or told him about the killing. (R 483-484) Wooden admitted to having several felony convictions. (R 485) He also said he had been in the same cell with Donnie Phillips for about a month. (R 486-487) He did not come forward with any information until the Friday preceding the trial. (R 487)

Penalty Phase and Sentencing

The State presented no additional testimony at the penalty phase of the trial. (R 614) The prosecutor did submit a certified copy of Corbett's prior conviction for armed robbery. (R 614) Corbett presented testimony from a psychologist, Dr. Jim Larson, from his natural father, his stepmother, a sheriff's investigator, and his fiancee. (R 615, 640, 644, 646, 651)

Larson examined Ricky Corbett and met with several of his family members as well as performing a battery of psychological tests. (R 618-619) He found that Corbett has a I.Q. of 80, which is in the lower nine percentile. (R 620) Larson said this is the dull-normal range of intelligence. (R 620) The score is one point above the borderline mental retardation range. (R 620) Corbett reads at a fifth grade level and performs arithmetic at a seventh grade level. (R 621) As a result, the MMPI testing was not possible since you need a sixth grade reading level to perform the test. (R 621) Corbett's personal history indicated he grew up in a poor

family in Georgia. (R 622) His mother had six children but never married. (R 622) The family never had enough money, and Corbett's mother frequently had to get some help from her employer for food and clothing. (R 622) The family was very involved in a small Baptist church and Corbett was in church sometimes five times a week while growing up. (R 622) Corbett did not meet his father until he was five years old, and never had a relationship with him. (R 623) Corbett had no father figure while growing up. (R 623) At age eleven, Corbett's mother died. (R 623) The children were split up and went to live with various relatives. (R 624) Ricky went from relative to relative and house to house and never settled anywhere. (R 624) All of the families were impoverished. (R 624) Ricky went to live with his natural father when he was twelve-yearsold, since he had been living on the streets. (R 624) He stayed there for about six-months before leaving again. (R 625) The remainder of his growing up years was without a family unit. (R 625) Larson concluded that based on his family history, Corbett was in a high risk for involvement with crime, delinquency, and substance abuse. (R 626) Corbett became involved with drugs and alcohol in early adolescence. (R 626) He was arrested at age sixteen for a robbery. (R 627-628) Larson indicated that Corbett has the mental age of about fourteen. (R 628) He did conclude that Corbett has no gross mental illness and is not psychotic. (R 629)

On cross-examination, the state asked if Corbett had mentioned anything about the circumstances of the homicide. (R

633). The witness said that Corbett refused to talk about it.

(R 635) Defense counsel objected to the question and answer as a comment on Corbett's right to remain silent and moved for a mistrial. (R 637-640)

Ricky's natural father, David Clark, and his stepmother, Ethel Clark, testified in mitigation. (R 640-641, 644) Ricky was an illegitimate child. (R 642) His father saw him shortly after he was born and did not see him again until he was about five or six years-old. (R 642) His father would see him occasionally but was never a part of his life. (R 642) Ricky lived with his father for a brief time when he was about fifteen. (R 643-644, 645)

An investigator with the Walton County Sheriff's Office, Rick Sutton, testified that Ricky assisted in making some undercover drug buys. (R 647) He was not paid for this work, (R 649) and on several occasions, he provided substantial assistance to the Sheriff's Office. (R 649) Sutton also knew the co-defendant, Donnie Phillips, and described him as about 6'2", weighing 250 pounds. (R 650) Sutton had no knowledge of Ricky Corbett using drugs while he was making buys. (R 651)

Ricky's fiancee, Joyce Anderson, testified that she had known Ricky for about two years. (R 652) Ricky lived with her for a period of time and was entrusted with the care of her nine-year-old daughter. (R 654) She said he loved children and said they had a nice relationship. (R 654-655) She did admit they have fights and she did cut him on one occasion. (R 660, 665)

Corbett also submitted the judgement and jury recommendation in his co-defendant's case. (R 668-670) Donnie Phillips was convicted of murder and his jury recommended a sentence of life imprisonment. (R 670) Phillips later received a life sentence.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. The State provided the defense with the names of two new witnesses Friday afternoon before the trial commenced on Monday. One of the witness's testimony concerned alleged incriminating statements he heard Corbett make while in jail. The court conducted a hearing on the late discovery compliance and found that the State provided the names of the witnesses as soon as they became known. However, because of the late notice to the defense, Corbett's counsel asked for a continuance. After arranging for counsel to depose the witnesses at the conclusion of the first day of jury selection, the court denied the motion. Counsel renewed the motion for a continuance so that he could investigate for possible impeachment information. The court abused its discretion and improperly denied the renewed motion, depriving counsel of adequate time to investigate and prepare a defense.
- 2. During cross-examination of Terry Poston, defense counsel attempted to impeach him via questions about charges and arrest warrants pending at the time he came forward to the police with the incriminating information against Corbett. The prosecutor objected, arguing that defense counsel was attempting to impeach the witness improperly because the question should be limited to prior felony convictions. Judge Wells agreed with the State and incorrectly assumed that counsel was attempting a general impeachment by showing that the witness had outstanding arrest warrants or prior arrests. Corbett was entitled to impeach the witness with pending criminal charges.

The court's ruling deprived Corbett of his right to confront and cross-examine the witness.

- 3. Judge Wells was killed in an airplane crash the day after the penalty phase of the trial. The case was assigned to Circuit Judge G. Robert Barron for sentencing and post-trial motions. Corbett moved for a new penalty phase trial in order for Judge Barron hear the witnesses testify and evaluate their demeanor and credibility. Judge Barron denied the motion, noting that he had reviewed the trial transcripts and the presentence investigation report. Judge Barron proceeded to make findings of fact, weigh the aggravating and mitigating circumstances and impose a death sentence. In sentencing Corbett to death without personally hearing and evaluating the testimony of the witnesses, Judge Barron violated Sections 38.12 and 921.141 Florida Statutes and denied Corbett his constitutional rights under the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments as well as Article I Sections 9, 16 and 17 of the Constitution of the State of Florida.
- 4. During the testimony of Dr. Jim Larson, who testified for the defense at the penalty phase of the trial, the State, on cross-examination, asked if Larson questioned Corbett about the details of the murder. Defense counsel objected that the questioning was designed to elicit a comment on Corbett's right to remain silent. The court allowed the question and answer and denied Corbett's motion for mistrial. Allowing the State to elicit the fact that Corbett refused to answer the

psychologist's questions about the details of the offense violated Corbett's right to due process.

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