SID J. WHITE

AUG 12 1991

CLERK, SUPBEME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 76,072

RICKY STEVE CORBETT

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

GISELLE D. LYLEN Florida Bar #0508012 Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Florida Regional Service Center 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N-921 Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 377-5441

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

> ...Miranda rights were established as a prophylactic rule to minimize the coercive atmosphere of custodial interrogation by law enforcement officers. The rule prohibits the use by state of any statement, whether the exculpatory or inculpatory, obtained in custodial setting unless the procedural safeguards of Miranda are followed. Moreover, "[t]he prosecution may not...use at trial the fact that he stood mute or claimed his privilege in accusation." the face of (Citations omitted). Miranda, however, is addressed to the actions of the state and its agents.

IV.

529 So.2d 1091.

Thus, the comment elicited from the defendant's psychiatric expert that he refused to discuss the crime is not an improper comment upon the defendant's right to silence. The cases he thev involve the relies are distinguishable since upon elicitation of comments by government agents, i.e. law officers, on the defendant's exercise of his enforcement constitutional rights following arrest. The defendant has failed to cite one case in support of his proposition that the same rule applies to defense experts on cross-examination.

The trial court's ruling is also appropriate in view of the State's line of questioning which sought to establish that the defense expert reached his opinion without full knowledge of the facts and circumstance of the crime of which the defendant was accused. The record below establishes that the defense did not provide its expert with any information other than the fact that a victim was dead, shots were involved, and the defendant stood accused of some involvement in the crime; the defendant also declined to discuss the case. Thus, the State sought to establish that Dr. Larson's opinion was not worthy of belief since it was not formulated with full knowledge of the underlying crime. Finally, even if the defendant was correct in his characterization of the comment, the matter is nonetheless subject to a harmless error analysis and it is clear, that in view of the overwhelming evidence of guilt, it had no impact upon the defendant's conviction. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW THE DEFENSE, DURING THE PENALTY PHASE OF THE TRIAL, TO USE THE CODEFENDANT AS AN EXHIBIT TO ALLOW THE JURY TO VIEW HIS PHYSICAL APPEARANCE.

The defendant contends that because the trial court improperly refused to allow him to put codefendant, Donnie Phillips, on the stand to allow the jury to view his physical appearance he was deprived of arguing the mitigating factor that the defendant acted under the substantial dominion of Phillips in the commission of the crime. It is clear, however, that no error occurred.

The defense sought to put Phillips on the stand as though he were merely an exhibit since Phillips refused to testify based upon his Fifth Amendment privilege.(R.594).² Despite counsel's characterization of Phillips as an exhibit, defense counsel sought to obtain certain information regarding his physical appearance to infer that Phillips was the primary actor in the murder while the defendant was a minor participant under Phillips' control. In the first instance, the rules of evidence simply do not provide for the use of a person as an exhibit; the defendant's argument fails for this reason alone. Next, he argues that Phillips' presence on the stand was nontestimonial

v.

² MR. HARLEE: Also your Honor, I've subpoenaed Donnie Phillips here for basically --as an exhibit, not as a person testifying. My questions are going to be limited to State your name."(R.594).

MR. HARLEE: Well, I'm not going to ask him any questions about this or any other activity other than his name, his height and weight. (R.595).

in nature and would thus not open the door to cross-examination the State thereby rendering the trial court's ruling by argument belies trial counsel's This in court incorrect. statements to the effect that he would, in fact, be soliciting testimony from Phillips. Any testimony by Phillips would have opened the door to cross-examination by the State particularly where Phillips' height and weight were irrelevant without the foundation to such questions, i.e. the defendant's claimed mitigation, being supported by the record. The cases cited by the defendant are thus inapposite since in all of them the defendant did not testify and merely presented nontestimonial evidence.

The trial court's ruling can afford the defendant no relief for several other reasons. Primary among them is the fact that the record is devoid of any testimony whatsoever to the effect that the defendant had a subservient personality and was easily dominated by others. It is equally void of testimony that Phillips was a domineering personality. Any instruction on the mitigating factor claimed would have been unjustified even if Phillips had been allowed to take the stand. Secondly, as the defendant concedes, the jury did have testimony before it, by than witness, regarding Phillips' more one size and weight.(R.331-2,650). His appearance was thus unnecessary and would have proven to be merely cumulative. Lastly, even if the defendant were correct in his assertion of error, any error was, at best, harmless since the defendant told Terry Poston and others that he shot Ms. Daily.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED TO AVOID ARREST AND WAS COMMITTED IN A HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND CRUEL MANNER WHEN THE EVIDENCE REVEALED THAT THE DEFENDANT KNEW THE VICTIM WHO COULD IDENTIFY HIM AND WHEN THE VICTIM WAS NOT ONLY SHOT FOUR TIMES, BUT MUTILATED.

The defendant asserts that two aggravating factors, that the murder was committed to avoid arrest and was heinous, atrocious, and cruel, were improperly found by the trial court. The record, however, refutes this claim and clearly establishes that the trial court was eminently correct in its determination.

defendant first contends The that the trial court erroneously determined that the murder was committed to avoid arrest and relies upon Perry v. State, 522 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1988), Amazon v. State, 487 So.2d 8 (Fla. 1986), and similar cases in support of his claim. These cases, however are totally distinguishable from the instant case. In Perry and Amazon, for example, this Court found that the defendants had no prearranged plan to kill their victims to avoid arrest, but rather ended up killing their victims on the scene when the situation got out of their control and they panicked. Here, however, the situation is much different. Not only did the defendant and his coperpetrator plan to commit a robbery with a loaded firearm thus exacerbating the possibility that someone would be killed, they carefully selected a site which did not have cameras or other devices to record their actions so that the sole source to lead to their identification would be their victim. They rejected a bank and convenience store for just this reason and instead

VI.

selected a remote liquor store which did not have security devices.(R.482). The defendant conceded the fact that they knew their victim, Sherry Daily.(R.482). Had the defendant not been motivated by a desire to avoid arrest, Ms. Daily, having been deprived of the contents of the store register, would have been left in the store alive.

Perhaps the most comprehensive analysis of this aggravating factor in recent years was set forth in this Court's opinion in <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988) in which the Court held

motive to eliminate potential Α witnesses to "an antecedent crime" can provide the basis for this aggravating circumstance. Menendez v. State, 419 So.2d 312, 315 n. 2 (Fla. 1982). It is not necessary that an arrest be imminent at the time of the murder. See, e.q. Herring v. State, 446 So.2d 1049 (Fla.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 989, 105 S.Ct. 396, 83 L.Ed.2d 330 (1984); Riley v. State, 366 So.2d 19 (Fla. 1978).

Although some decisions have approved findings of motive to eliminate witnesses based on admissions of the defendant, <u>Kokal v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 1317, 1319 (Fla. 1986); Bottoson v. State, 443 So.2d 962, 963 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 873, 105 S.Ct. 223, 83 L.Ed.2d 153 (1984); Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 185, 188 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 466 U.S. 963, 104 S.Ct. 2183, 80 L.Ed.2d 563 (1984), in others the factor has been approved on the basis of circumstantial evidence without any such direct statement. Routly v. (Fla. 1257 1983) State, 440 So.2d statement" not ("express statement" not required), cert. denied, 468 U.S. 1220, 104 S.Ct. 82 L.Ed.2d 888 (1984). 3591, While Swafford's statement to Johnson did not contain any clear reference to his motive for the murder specifically, the circumstances of the murder were similar to those in many cases where the arrest

avoidance factor has been approved. E.G. Cave v. State, 476 So.2d 180, 188 (Fla. "no reasonable 1985) (evidence left inference but that the victim was kidnapped from the store and transported some thirteen miles to a rural area in order to kill and thereby silence the sole witness to the robbery"), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 476 U.S. 1178, 106 S.Ct. 2907, 90 L.Ed.2d 993 (1986); Routly v. State, 440 So.2d at 1264 ("no logical reason" for the victim's abduction and killing "except for the purpose of murdering him to prevent detection"). Other cases have applied the same reasoning to similar facts. E.G. Burr v. State, 466 So.2d 1951 (Fla.), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 879, 106 S.Ct. 201, 88 L.Ed.2d 170 (1985); Martin v. State, 420 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 460 U.S. 1056, 103 1508, 75 L.Ed.2d 937 (1983); S.Ct. Griffin v. State, 414 So.2d 1025 (Fla. 1982). 533 So.2d at 276.

The State respectfully submits that the same rationale applies to the facts of this case where: the defendant had been convicted on a previous strong arm robbery by a victim identification, the defendant specifically selected a less risky site for his robbery after rejecting those with surveillance equipment, the defendant entered the premises, armed with a gun, to commit a robbery, the store clerk knew the defendant, and the defendant, after successfully robbing the store, transported the victim to a rural area some ten miles away, mutilated her, and shot her four times.

The defendant also claims that the trial court erroneously determined that the murder of Sherry Daily was heinous, atrocious and cruel. This assertion is, however, totally refuted by the record below.

The record adduced at trial clearly establishes that the victim was forcibly abducted at gunpoint from the liquor store where she was employed and transported by the defendant to a rural location some ten miles away.(R.275,286,305,317,319). Upon their arrival at this isolated spot, the victim was forced to strip naked and was left with only her tennis shoes.(R.385). The record further establishes that a finger on Ms. Daily's right hand was amputated for no apparent reason.(R.390). Additionally, she was skinned, like an animal, from her abdomen, below her navel, around her legs, all the way to her anus.(R.390-2). Ms. Daily also sustained two bullet wounds to her left hand, resulting in a massive amount of hemmorhaging.(R.386) These wounds were inflicted through two entry wounds in the palmar surface and exited through one wound on the opposite side of the hand, thus establishing that these were defensive wounds in nature.(R.386). Finally, Dr. Kielman's testimony established that Ms. Daily's death was caused by two bullet wounds to the head, one of which entered directly above the left ear with an exit wound just above and slightly forward of the right ear, and the other through the roof of the mouth.(R.385).

This Court has repeatedly upheld the finding of this aggravating factor in cases, such as this where a victim undergoes torture at the hands of a defendant. See: <u>Mendyk v.</u> <u>State</u>, 545 So.2d 846 (Fla. 1989), <u>cert. denied</u>, 110 S.Ct. 520, 107 L.Ed.2d 521 (1989); <u>Cook v. State</u>, 542 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1989); <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 489 U.S. 1100, 109 S.Ct. 1578, 103 L.Ed.2d 944 (1988). On this basis alone, the trial court's finding is appropriate.

Even if one were to assume arguendo that the defendant was correct in his assertion that the victim was shot in the head prior to the time the other injuries were inflicted upon her, the trial court's finding is nonetheless proper. This Court has held that a finding of heinous, atrocious, and cruel is appropriate in cases in which a victim faces a helpless anticipation of her own impending death. See: Rivera v. State, 561 So.2d 223 (Fla. 1990); Cook v. State, 542 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1989); Jackson v. State, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 871, 109 S.Ct. 183, 102 L.Ed.2d 153 (1988); Koon v. State, 513 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 943, 108 S.Ct. 1124, 99 L.Ed.2d 284 (1987); Melendez v. State, 498 So.2d 1258 (Fla. 1986). Here, Ms. Daily, who was abducted, driven many miles, and forced to strip and march into an isolated swamp, surely was aware that she would not be allowed to survive to tell what had happened. Thus, the finding of heinous, atrocious, and cruel is supported by the mental anguish she must of necessity have experienced. Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1985); Cave v. State, 476 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1178, 106 S.Ct. 2907, 90 L.Ed.2d 993 (1985). Finally, Ms. Daily's awareness of her impending doom is further established by the gunshot wounds to her left hand which were inflicted from the palm to the opposite side of the hand, showing she attempted, albeit futilely, to avoid the inevitable. Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1986), denial of post-conviction relief rev'd, 569 So.2d 1247; Ross v. State, 474 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1985); Cave v. State, supra.

THE DEATH SENTENCE IMPOSED ON THE DEFENDANT IS NOT DISPROPORTIONATE.

VII.

The defendant asserts that the trial court erroneously imposed the death sentence when his codefendant, Donnie Phillips, received a life sentence and his actions were no more culpable than those of Phillips. The record refutes this claim and establishes that the defendant was the primary actor in the murder of Sherry Daily and thus the imposition of the death penalty is appropriate.

Although the defendant seeks to mitigate the effect of his statements to Terry Poston, the evidence adduced at trial clearly establishes the fact that he admitted to being the person who shot Sherry Daily to death. (R.495, 507). Additionally, the record unequivocally shows that when the defendant took Poston to view his handiwork, he laughed and said "that's what I think about life."(R.494,508). Absolutely nothing in the record substantiates the defendant's claim that he was merely a minor participant in this crime. To the contrary, it establishes that he was the major actor and both the jury and the trial court recognized this to be true.³ Hargrave v. State, 336 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1978), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 444 U.S. 919, 100 S.Ct. 239, 62 L.Ed.2d 414 (1979). Under these circumstances, it is clear that the imposition of the death penalty was correct. Van Poyck v. State, 564 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1990); Diaz v. State, 513 So.2d 1045

 $^{^3}$ The defendant's argument also ignores the fact that Phillips' lessor sentence may have been attributable in part to the fact that Phillips assisted the police in obtaining physical evidence relating to the crime.

(Fla. 1987), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 108 S.Ct. 1061, 98 L.Ed.2d 1022 (1987).

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN READING THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS ON THE AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, AND CRUEL WHEN THE DEFENDANT DID NOT OBJECT TO THE INSTRUCTION OR REQUEST DIFFERENT OR ADDITIONAL INSTRUCTION.

The defendant, citing to Maynard v. Cartwright, 484 U.S. ____, 108 S.Ct. 1853, 100 L.Ed.2d 372 (1988), complains that the trial court erred in reading penalty phase instructions on the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious, and cruel since he asserts the instructions did not provide the necessary limiting definitions to allow for the factor's proper application. Nevertheless, the instructions read, the standard jury instructions on this aggravating factor, have been upheld as Constitutional by this Court since Maynard has no applicability to Florida's sentencing scheme. The defendant's argument has been repeatedly rejected by this Court and he may not prevail. Smalley v. State, 546 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1989); Dixon v, State, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); Hildwin v. Florida, 109 S.Ct. 2055, 104 L.Ed.2d 728 (1989), reh. denied, 109 S.Ct. 3268, 106 L.Ed.2d 612 (1989). Additionally, as the defendant failed to object to the instructions as read at the time of trial, the matter is not preserved for the appellate review of this Court. See e.q.: Ford v. Wainwright, 451 So.2d 471 (Fla. 1984); Bottoson v. State, 433 So.2d 962 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 105 S.Ct. 233 (1984).

VIII.

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